Minutes of the Annual General Body Meeting of COMMON CAUSE Society held at Common Cause House, New Delhi, on March 12, 2016

Mr. Vikram Lal, President Emeritus, Common Cause, called the meeting to order at 11.00 a.m. As the quorum was not complete, the meeting was adjourned at 11.15 a.m. to be reconvened at 11.30 a.m. In all, 26 members attended the meeting. Mr. Lal informed the members about the change in the leadership of Common Cause and introduced the new President, Mr. Kamal Kant Jaswal, inviting him to chair the meeting.

The President extended a warm welcome to the members and recapitulated the organisation's ongoing work and key programmes. He appreciated the positive changes being introduced by the new Director. He cited the examples of the latest issue of the Common Cause journal on Right to Education and the new and refurbished Common Cause website. The President said that more initiatives were in the pipeline and very briefly flagged the new developments in the following legal interventions made by the organization last year:

- i. PIL to extend the audit jurisdiction of the C & A G to Noida, Greater Noida, and Yamuna Expressway Authorities in Uttar Pradesh
- ii. Hazards posed by live wires,
- iii. Challenging the *vires* of the appointment of the Chief Vigilance Commissioner (CVC) of India
- iv. Contempt Petition in the matter of self- congratulatory and partisan advertisements issued by politicians using public money, and
- v. Contempt Petition against the lawyers' strike

The President also informed the members that the Annual Report of the Society for the year 2014-15 was published in the July- September 2015 issue of the Common Cause journal.

He then invited the Director, Dr. Vipul Mudgal, to proceed with the items on the agenda.

<u>Consideration of the Annual Report and Adoption of the Annual Accounts and</u> <u>Auditors' Report for the year 2014-15</u>

The Director presented the main points of the Annual Report of the Society for the year 2014-15, copies of which had been made available to the participants. The members expressed their satisfaction over the information presented. Mr. S. S. Puri proposed that the Annual Report and Audited Accounts of the Society along with the Auditors' Report be adopted. Mr. H. R. Vaish seconded the motion, which was unanimously carried.

Appointment of Auditors for the year 2015-16

The Director stated that the Auditors, Messrs. VKGN & Associates Chartered Accountants, had discharged their responsibilities during the year under review to the full satisfaction of the Society. Mr. K. K. Jhingan proposed that they be reappointed for the year 2015-16. Shri Narendra Ahuja seconded the motion, which was adopted by the General Body.

Activities and Programmes: The Director stated that during the period of report the Society engaged with several like-minded civil society organizations and public spirited individuals to extend the reach and impact of its interventions. He made a brief Power Point presentation on the main activities and programmes undertaken in furtherance of the missions and objectives of the Society since the last Annual General Meeting. The following were the highlights of the presentation.

Advocacy initiatives

Police Reforms: The Director apprised the members of the progress being made in developing an Annual State of Policing Report (ASPR) in collaboration with Lokniti Programme of the Centre for the Study of Developing Societies (CSDS) and other like-minded organisations. It has been agreed to work on a police performance cum perception index as part of the ASPR which has been on Common Cause agenda for several years as part of its advocacy campaign. As a first step, the Common cause team is preparing a baseline document on police reforms. This will be the basis for the joint programmes and surveys to be rolled out in a few states later this year.

Right to Education: Common Cause has been greatly concerned with the deteriorating quality of education, especially in the government school system. In the past one year, it has held several consultations for evolving advocacy and intervention strategies for improving the learning outcomes by revamping the implementation of RTE. A representation was made to Delhi's Education Minister Manish Sisodia to amend the Delhi RTE Rules in order to incorporate a framework to prevent school drop-outs. A series of brainstorming sessions was held with Video Volunteers, CIVIC, RTE Forum, NCPRI, Satark Nagarik Sangathan, Sajha, Pratham and others to discuss the legal framework of the RTE and to identify areas for advocacy campaigns and legal interventions. The team is also compiling an interactive handbook for SMC members in Delhi Schools, particularly for those in slums and urban villages.

Common Cause representations on telecom tower radiation: A number of representations has been made to the authorities concerned on the hazards of radiation emitted by mobile cellphone towers. It is documented that these towers

emit harmful Electro Magnetic Frequency/Radiation (EMF/EMR) round the clock. The towers are mounted in close proximity to residential and official buildings, hospitals and playgrounds. The people living within ten meters of mobile towers receive signals which are several thousand times stronger than the safe limits.

The campaign against radiation hazard is being offered as an excuse by telecom companies for their failure to address the problem of call drops, which is particularly acute in areas of high mobile penetration. While the operators keep blaming calldrops on the resistance offered by RWAs to the installation of new towers, compounded by low spectrum availability and high license charges, it has officially been recognized that there is a severe lack of investment on part of the operators. The focus of our efforts is on balancing legitimate consumer concerns regarding dropped calls and those of the collectivity in respect of radiation hazards. We have also recommended that there should be effective on-line monitoring systems to watch over consumer interests.

Submission on Real Estate Bill: Common Cause made a comprehensive submission before the Rajya Sabha Select Committee on Real Estate (Regulation and Development) Bill 2013. Our submission was aimed mainly at removing the aomalies and anti-buyer provisions contained in the builderbuyer agreements, strengthening transparency in financial transactions/ construction expenditure and fixing accountability.

Initiative for Judicial Reforms:

- i. High-level Consultations: Common Cause has been holding wide ranging formal and informal consultations with like-minded organisations such as ADR, Daksh, CJAR and Vidhi on the smart and effective use of ICT for improving the quality and delivery of judicial services to the citizens. Several rounds of interaction have been held with Dr. Justice (Retd.) G C Bharuka and the NASSCOM President, R Chandrashekhar, with a view to revamping the e-Courts Project, which was expected to enhance the productivity of judges and improve the delivery of justice. A channel of communication with the top functionaries of the Department of Justice has also been opened to take the matter forward.
- ii. Discussion on NJAC judgment: There are serious concerns about the functioning of the collegium system for appointments to the higher judiciary. It was felt that in the wake of the Supreme Court judgment quashing the NJAC, we should press for systemic improvements of the judiciary. Accordingly, we organised a consultation to firm up our views on

a fair and objective criterion of selection and submitted a representation to the Ministry.

Public interest litigation (New initiatives):

Supreme Court

Contempt Petition against lawyers strike: The contempt petition filed by Common Cause against the strike of lawyers in Delhi HC and all district courts of Delhi on the issue of conflict over pecuniary jurisdiction, in WP (C) 821/1990 (Harish Uppal vs Union of India) was again taken up on February 1, 2016. At the hearing, Mr. Ram Jethmalani sought more time to convene a meeting of the Bar Association. Granting the request, the Court listed the matter for April 5, 2016.

Challenging the vires of the appointments made to the CVC: The Petition challenges the arbitrary and non-transparent appointments of the new CVC and VC as violative of the principles of 'impeccable integrity' and 'institutional integrity' laid down in Vineet Narain case (1998) and Centre for Public Interest Litigation (CPIL) case (2011). The matter was heard on February 22, 2016 and listed for hearing on a non miscellaneous day.

Contempt Petition in Large Scale Advertisements: Common Cause filed a contempt petition against the State Governments of Uttar Pradesh, Delhi and Tamil Nadu for publishing publicly-funded advertisements in violation of the letter and spirit of the Apex Court's guidelines regarding large scale advertisements, which had carved out exceptions for the Prime Minister, the President and the Chief Justice of India. The matter was last taken up on March 9, 2016. The Centre and seven States, including the poll-bound West Bengal and Tamil Nadu, sought revision of the verdict, pleading that it infringed the fundamental rights and the federal structure.

The Bench headed by Justice Ranjan Gogoi reserved its verdict on the review pleas of the Centre and the seven States which demanded that besides the PM, pictures of Central ministers, CMs and other State ministers be allowed to be carried in public advertisements.

Delhi High Court:

Petition on electrocution by live wires: The Petition highlights the issue of recurring fatalities due to live wire electrocution, especially during the monsoon. Notice has been issued and the matter is next listed on March 17, 2016.

<u>Allahabad High Court</u>

Extension of C&AG's audit jurisdiction to NOIDA, Greater Noida and Yamuna Expressway Authorities: The PIL on the subject was initially filed before the Supreme Court but was dismissed as withdrawn on February 24, 2015. The Allahabad High Court was approached on September 1, 2015 as per the leave granted by the Supreme Court. Notice was subsequently issued and counters and rejoinders filed. The affidavit of disclosure filed by the State government has revealed nothing new regarding the nature of its financial relationship with the authorities in question. However, the CAGs office has sought an adjournment to file a supplementary affidavit. The matter will now be taken up on March 30, 2016.

Significant developments in pending PILs:

Preventing the export of logs of red sandalwood: The intervention of the Supreme Court was sought to foil a determined bid by the Government of Andhra Pradesh to export a huge quantity of confiscated red sandalwood, an endangered species. This move flies in the face of international conventions, express provisions of the Import-Export Policy and repeated admonitions of the Ministry of Environment & Forests. The matter was taken up on February 23, 2016, when the Union of India and the State of AP were granted four weeks as a last opportunity to file their counter affidavits. The Court has directed that the matter be listed on May 6, 2016.

Living Will: The petition sought the enactment of a law on the lines of the Patient Autonomy and Self-determination Act of the USA, which sanctions the practice of executing a 'living will' in the nature of an advance directive for refusal of life-prolonging medical procedures in the event of the testator's incapacitation. The matter was disposed of on February 25, 2014. Without pronouncing any order on the specific prayer made in our petition, the Court invited a Constitution Bench to resolve the inconsistencies involved in the issue and the matter was taken up on July 16, 2014. After notices were issued to all States and UTs, the matter came up on January 15 and February 15, 2016. The ASG submitted that the government was considering a legislation on the subject. Hence, the matter was adjourned for July 20, 2016.

Decriminalisation of politics: The Supreme Court had on March 10, 2014 passed an interim order directing that trials in criminal cases against MPs and MLAs must be concluded within a year of the charges being framed. The Court also directed that if the trial court is unable to complete the trial within a year, it would have to submit an explanation to, and seek an extension from, the Chief Justice of the High Court concerned. While seeking compliance of the Supreme Court order we sought specific time-bound directions for closer monitoring of all such cases. The matter was referred to the constitution bench on March 8, 2016. **Illegal allocation of captive coal blocks:** Following the landmark Supreme Court orders of August 25 and September 24, 2014 holding the allocation of captive coal block to private entities as arbitrary and illegal and cancelling 214 out of 218 allocations made between 1993 and 2010, Common Cause flagged various lapses in the investigation and prosecution of the cases including the role of the CBI and its then Director, Mr. Ranjit Sinha. Common Cause subsequently filed an interim application seeking a court monitored investigation and recusal of Mr. Sinha.

Mr. Sinha moved an application on November 17, 2014 praying for registration of an FIR for perjury against the Director, Common Cause, Mr Kamal Kant Jaswal, and the Sopciety's counsel, Mr. Prashant Bhushan, for making 'false' statements on oath. The Supreme Court not only dismissed the application, but also made adverse observations on the manner of conduct of inquiry by the CBI. On September 15, 2015, the Court constituted a high level committee headed by former CBI Special Director, Mr. M. L. Sharma, to ascertain if the CBI investigations were influenced by Mr. Sinha. The Court also granted permission to Mr. Sharma to access the original visitor's register maintained at the residence of Mr. Sinha. Mr. Jaswal and Mr. Bhushan were later invited to depose before the Sharma Committee.

The matter was listed in October, November and December 2015 but could not be heard.

Illegal Mining in Odisha: Our petition to curb illegal mining in Odisha, as highlighted by the Central Empowered Committee and the Justice M. B. Shah Commission was taken up on April 21, 2014. The Court issued notices to the respondents and directed the CEC to submit a report on illegal mining. On May 16, 2014, the Court granted an interim stay on the operation of 26 mines and directed the State Govt. to dispose of all renewal applications as per the law. These matters were later taken up several times and the Court directed the *amicus curiae,* Mr. A D N Rao, to file his response. The Court also requested the Attorney General to assist it on the interpretation of Section 8A for disposing the IAs filed, specially the one filed by the Steel Authority of India and posted the matter for March 16, 2016.

Slaughter House Pollution: This petition praying for remedial measures against the rampant malpractices in slaughter houses was taken up on January 29, 2016, and the court asked the Ministry of Environment and Forests to file the affidavit in terms of the orders issued in March and August 2015. The Court made it clear that no further opportunity would be granted to the Ministry and listed the matter for February 26, 2016. Although the Court granted further adjournment at the hearing, it imposed a cost of Rs. 25,000 on the Union of India. The Welfare Board of India too was impleaded as a respondent.

Judicial Reforms: Filed by Janhit Manch, Common Cause and two others, the PIL offered a multi-pronged and comprehensive strategy to expedite the dispensation of justice and liquidate the backlog of court cases. Regrettably, the Apex Court by its order dated December 10, 2014 summarily disposed of the petition. Among other things, the Court also observed that the Judiciary had already considered most of these issues independently and finally. An application for the recall of this order was filed by Common Cause on behalf of the petitioners on February 16, 2015, but that too was dismissed on technical grounds by the Registry.

Internet Freedom: Common Cause approached the Supreme Court to challenge the constitutional validity of Sections 66A, 69A and 80 of the IT Act. Affirming the value of free speech and expression, the Supreme Court Bench of Justice Rohinton Nariman and Justice Chelameshwar, in a landmark decision on March 24, 2015 struck down in its entirety Section 66A of the IT Act as constitutional. Referring to the government's argument that the possibility of abuse does not render a law invalid, the Court held that section 66A, which was otherwise invalid could not be saved by the ASG's assurance that the law would be administered flawlessly. "Governments may come, and governments may go, but the law will remain", observed the judges.

The Court, however, upheld the law related to blocking, section 69A, and the connected Rules, in its entirety. As for the Intermediary Rules, the court has upheld section 79 of the IT Act, and the Intermediary Rules subject to reading down both provisions to allow for a requirement of a court order before an intermediary is to take down information if it was related to subject matter covered by Article 19(2). No observation was made on Common Cause's challenge to the constitutional validity of Section 80 under which an arrest can be made on the basis of intention to commit a crime depending on the discretion of the police officer.

Appointment of Lokpal and Lokayuktas: The writ petition pertaining to enactment of the Lok Pal Act and ensuring appointment of Lok Ayuktas/ Up Lok Ayuktas under the Legal Services Authorities Act was dismissed on April 30, 2015 for having become infructuous in view of the enactment of the Lokpal and Lokayuktas Act, 2013 and as another petition seeking inter alia the implementation of the said Act has already been filed before the Apex Court.

Delhi High Court

Misuse of BSP reserved symbol: The petition challenging the order of the Central Election Commission rejecting our request for freezing the reserved symbol of BSP on account of its misuse by its government in UP could not be taken up during 2015 due to adjournments sought by the respondent, lawyers' strike and non-availability of the bench. On February 25, 2016, the counsel for the BSP contended that the said

order of the ECI was passed pursuant to an order of in another petition which was still pending before the Supreme Court. The Court demanded to know why the respondent in the last five years did not seek the transfer of the petition to the Supreme Court, or seek a clarification. The Court has reserved its judgment after hearing the counsels.

Evidence of corruption by Shri Virbhadra Singh: The High Court on Dec 10, 2015 disposed of the petition filed by Common Cause against Mr. Singh, ruling that issue was already under investigation by CBI and income tax. During the course of hearing, the Court was informed by the counsels that with respect to the tax matters, the proceedings had been taken up for assessment and re-assessment. The counsel for CBI stated that a regular case had been registered and the investigation would be taken to its logical conclusion in accordance with law. In light of this, the petition was disposed with the observation that it was no longer necessary to go into the issue of maintainability of the writ petition.

Post-Retirement Activities of Former Supreme Court Judges: Common Cause had filed a writ petition in the Delhi High Court on February 10, 2010, highlighting how Article 124(7) of the Constitution was being violated in letter and spirit because of certain post-retirement activities of the former SC judges. This provision forbids former SC Judges from pleading or acting in any court or before any authority. During the pendency of this petition the Society secured some significant outcomes. The HC had instructed its registry to reject writ petitions annexed with opinions of retired judges. This was in line with our prayer for the prohibition of this practice. The Union Government has also introduced the Tribunals, Appellate Tribunals and other Authorities (Conditions of Service) Bill, 2014 in this regard and this is before the Standing Committee.

The petition was disposed on December 11, 2015 with a direction to the UOI to give special attention to the issue and to ensure that appropriate legislation was made at the earliest.

Guidelines for appointment of CAG: A PIL filed by Mr. N. Gopalaswami, former CEC, and 8 former senior public servants, including the Director, Common Cause, for a transparent, broad-based and objective procedure for appointment to the Constitutional office of the CAG of India was dismissed by the Delhi High Court on August 13, 2014. The Court held that the appointment of Mr. S. K. Sharma as the CAG was neither in violation of the principle of institutional integrity, nor arbitrary. Differentiating the matter from the CVC case, the Court refused to undertake what it termed as a merit review of the appointment, as opposed to a judicial review. It also refrained from issuing any directions for framing objective criteria for future appointments and a subsequent SLP also met the same fate in February 2015.

At the end of the presentation, the members were invited to offer their suggestions and inputs. The main points of the interventions are as follows.

Mr. Sarvesh Sharma- On the issue of Judicial Reforms, Mr. Sharma stated that the government was the biggest litigant and that some mechanism should be instituted to check the number of appeals filed by the governments.

Dr. N. Bhaskar Rao- Dr. Bhaskar Rao ppreciated the special issue of Common Cause journal on the Right to Education (Oct- Dec, 2015) and suggested that the Society should likewise take up issues of public health, highlighting the dismal state of government hospitals. It could put pressure on the government through advocacy or other interventions to make healthcare affordable and accessible to all. Commenting on Common Cause efforts to arrest the alarming dropout rates at government schools, he cited the case of Telangana schools where attendance registers were being systematically manipulated to close down government schools under the influence of vested interests eying the real estate.

Mr. S S Puri- Mr. Puri complained that he has not been receiving the journal and that many of his mails have remained unanswered. He asked if renting out of the Common Cause building for commercial purposes was in order in view of the fact that land in the institutional area was allotted to it at a concessional rate. He also highlighted the issue of garbage being dumped outside the temples. Mr Puri also suggested that Common Cause should file a petition to secure one-rank-one-pension (OROP) for the Armed Forces.

The President clarified that the organization had rented out its property strictly in accordance with the terms of the lease, which allow 25% of the area to be rented out to commercial entities. Sub-letting charges were being regularly paid to the DDA in this regard. As regards OROP, he informed Mr. Puri that the Society had engaged with office bearers of various ex servicemen's associations, but no consensus on how to take the matter forward could be arrived at.

Mr. Ram Bhaj Madan- Appreciated the quality of the Common Cause journal, and in particular, the article on Police Reforms in the July- Sept 2015 issue. He stated that he was willing to bear the cost of circulation of this write up to prominent opinion leaders in order to build pressure on the government. He also said that a new police act was the need of the hour and in his view recruitments must be done nationally, like it is done in the Armed Forces, but in such a way that at least 50 per cent of the recruits in states come from outside. This, he said, will minimise partisanship in the working of the police and inculcate the values of fairness, justice and a 'national' thinking. He also brought up the ongoing issues at the JNU campus and emphasized the need of incorporating economic criteria in job reservations. He also suggested that the name of Common Cause should be displayed more prominently on its building.

Mr. HR Vaish- Commenting on the issue of the reluctance of the UP industrial area development authorities to get their accounts audited by the CAG, he said that similar institutions in Haryana were covered under the CAG scrutiny. He added that a list of similar institutions -- formed under similar legislations in states across the country - be prepared, and courts be approached to address the legal lacunae. He said it was important because these authorities had become dens of corruption due to well entrenched systems of political patronage.

Elections

The President informed the members that the Rules of the Society provided that three members of the Governing Council, who were the senior most among members liable to retire by rotation, had to retire on the day of the AGM. Accordingly, Mr. Prashant Bhushan, Ms. Madhu Kishwar, and Mr Lalit Nirula had to retire. The President informed the House that all of them had contributed greatly to the Society and were willing to be re-elected.

Mr. Chitranjan Kapoor proposed that Mr. Prashant Bhushan be re-elected. The proposal was seconded by Mr. Surjit Das. Dr. Vipul Mudgal proposed that Ms. Madhu Kishwar be re-elected. The proposal was seconded by Mr. V K Taneja. Mr. Lalit Nirula's name was proposed by Mr. Kamal Kant Jaswal and seconded by Mr. Sarvesh Sharma. The General Body unanimously approved the three proposals.

The meeting concluded with a vote of thanks to the Chair.

(Kamal Kant Jaswal) Chairman